

ENTRE

TOWARDS ZERO

Ambitious Road Safety Targets and the Safe System Approach

Summary Document

JOINT TRANSPORT RESEARCH CENTRE OF THE OECD AND THE INTERNATIONAL TRANSPORT FORUM

The International Transport Forum is an inter-governmental body within the OECD family. The Forum is a global platform for transport policy makers and stakeholders. Its objective is to serve political leaders and a larger public in developing a better understanding of the role of transport in economic growth and the role of transport policy in addressing the social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. The Forum organises a Conference for Ministers and leading figures from civil society each May in Leipzig, Germany.

The Members of the Forum are: Albania, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Canada, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, FYROM, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, Moldova, Montenegro, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, the United Kingdom and the United States.

The OECD and the International Transport Forum established a *Joint Transport Research Centre* in 2004. The Centre conducts co-operative research programmes addressing all modes of transport to support policy making in Member countries and contribute to the Ministerial sessions of the International Transport Forum.

Further information about the International Transport Forum and the Joint Transport Research Centre is available on Internet at the following address:

www.internationaltransportforum.org

© OECD/ITF 2008

No reproduction, copy, transmission or translation of this publication may be made without written permission. Applications should be sent to OECD Publishing <u>rights@oecd.org</u> or by fax 33 1 45 24 99 30.

Photo credits: The cover illustration shows State Highway 1 Coast Road north of Wellington, New Zealand, equipped in 2004 with a median barrier to prevent head on collisions on a stretch of road that had suffered a series of fatal accidents. The award winning project is one of the first in the world to make use of such a barrier on a two-lane, two-way road.

Photograph courtesy of the New Zealand Transport Agency.

SUMMARY DOCUMENT

This is a summary of the report *Towards Zero: Ambitious Road Safety Targets and the Safe System Approach.* The report is the result of a three-year co-operative effort by an international group of safety experts representing 21 countries as well as the World Bank, the World Health Organisation and the FIA Foundation under the aegis of the Joint Transport Research Centre of the International Transport Forum and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).

The purpose of the report is to review the state of the art in improving road safety performance and examine the role of targets in raising the level of ambition and achieving effective implementation of road safety policies. The work aims to assist governments in raising the performance threshold by developing more systematic approaches to road safety. It highlights the institutional management changes required in many countries to implement effective interventions through a strong focus on results and underlines the economic case for road safety investment.

This summary document comprises the recommendations, executive summary and table of contents of the full report together with details of the experts that contributed to the work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Recommendations	
Executive Summary	9
Current road safety trends	9
Performance against current safety targets 1	10
What can be done in the immediate term? 1	10
Improving performance in the longer term 1	12
Data collection and analysis 1	13
Setting robust interim targets 1	13
Ambitious long term vision	14
Adopting a safe system approach 1	15
Improving key institutional management functions 1	16
Supporting research and development through knowledge transfer 1	17
Adequate funding for effective safety programmes 1	18
Meeting management challenges – building political support 1	18
Table of contents for the full report	20
Contributors to the report	23

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Adopt a highly ambitious vision for road safety

All countries are advised to adopt and promote a level of ambition that seeks in the long term to eliminate death and serious injury arising from use of the road transport system. Adopting this ambition will alter the community's view of the inevitability of road trauma, alter institutional and societal responsibilities and accountability and change the way in which road safety interventions are shaped.

This is an aspirational vision in that achievement will require interventions that are some steps removed from prevailing best practice and will require the development of altogether new, more effective interventions. Part of its value lies in driving innovation. The long term vision needs to be complemented with interim targets for specific planning periods up to a decade or so.

2. Set interim targets to move systematically towards the vision

Ambitious, achievable and empirically-derived road safety targets should be adopted by all countries to drive improved performance and accountability. These targets should be developed by using a methodology that links interventions and institutional outputs with intermediate and final outcomes to develop achievable targets for different intervention options.

Exceptional efforts will be required in most OECD and ITF countries to achieve the road safety targets set by Transport Ministers in 2002 - 50% reduction in deaths between 2000 and 2012, or similar ambitious targets. Accordingly, it is recommended that targets based on expected outcomes from specified interventions now be established, as a means to move more systematically towards the level of ambition established by the targets set in 2002.

3. Develop a Safe System approach, essential for achieving ambitious targets

It is recommended that all countries, regardless of their level of road safety performance, move to a Safe System approach to road safety. This approach: builds on existing road safety interventions but reframes the way in which road safety is viewed and managed in the community. It addresses all elements of the road transport system in and integrated way with the aim of ensuring crash energy levels are below what would to cause fatal or serious injury. It requires acceptance of shared overall responsibilities and accountability between system designers and road users. It stimulates the development of the innovative interventions and new partnerships necessary to achieve ambitious long term targets.

4. Exploit proven interventions for early gains

Countries experiencing difficulty in improving their road safety performance should as a matter of urgency conduct high-level reviews of their safety management capacity and prepare long-term investment strategies and related programs and projects to overcome revealed capacity weaknesses.

These programmes and projects should adapt and implement proven institutional management arrangements and interventions used in more successful countries, and make use of good practice tools developed by international agencies to assist this process.

5. Conduct sufficient data collection and analysis to understand crash risks and current performance

All countries are encouraged to develop data collection procedures to cover: final outcomes (including at least deaths and serious injuries by road user); exposure measures (for example, relating outcomes to population levels, licensed driver numbers, distances travelled); intermediate outcomes (also called safety performance indicators and including levels of mean traffic speeds, seat belt wearing, drink driving and vehicle and infrastructure safety ratings); institutional delivery outputs (including different categories of enforcement effort); socio-economic costs associated with road trauma; and underlying economic factors (including new vehicle sales).

Careful data analysis should be conducted to improve understanding of crash and other trends to allow different intervention mixes and intensities to be modelled and ambitious but achievable targets to be set.

6. Strengthen the road safety management system

All countries should commit to ensuring an effective road safety management system and in particular seek to achieve a strong results focus through their institutional management arrangements. This results focus requires clear identification of: a lead agency; the core group of government ministries and agencies to be involved; their roles and responsibilities; and the performance targets in terms of institutional outputs and intermediate and final outcomes to be achieved within a defined strategy.

7. Accelerate knowledge transfer

Knowledge transfer initiatives must be supported with adequate investment in targeted programs and projects, designed to overcome institutional capacity weaknesses, especially by creating sustainable learning opportunities in the countries concerned.

Strong and sustained international cooperation will be required to mobilize resources and support commensurate with the scale of the losses arising from road deaths and serious injuries. This is especially the case with low and middle-income countries, but it is also relevant to high-income countries seeking innovative strategies for achieving the ultimate goal of eliminating death and serious injury.

8. Invest in road safety

Most countries need to improve their knowledge of expenditure on the consequences of road crashes, both by government and injury insurance companies, and investment in road safety improvement and trauma prevention. Road safety authorities need this information to prepare financial and economic evidence on the costs and effectiveness of proposed interventions in order to win whole-of-government support for funding innovative programmes and for transparency in resource allocation for crash prevention and treatment.

There are opportunities for targeted road safety investments that provide competitive returns. Road safety practitioners and authorities should develop business cases for this investment.

A step change in resources invested in road safety management and in safer transport systems is required to realise the achievement of ambitious road safety targets in most of the world.

9. Foster commitment at the highest levels of government

Sustained government commitment at the highest level is essential for improving road safety. To secure this, road safety managers not only need to develop evidence-based road safety programmes but need to advocate strategies that reflect an understanding of political constraints such as the electoral cycle.

Significant effort needs to be directed at informing the public about the Safe System approach. Public consultation should be comprehensive and should precede final political consideration of new policies.

Road safety practitioners and stakeholders have a responsibility to influence the political process of policy assessment through: competent and persistent advocacy of programmes within government, provision of annual estimates of the socio-economic costs of road trauma and development of an extensive armoury of effective road safety interventions.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Current road safety trends

Each year around one million people are killed and 50 million people injured on roads around the world. This level of road trauma imposes huge economic costs, representing between 1 and 3 percent of GDP in most countries. In addition, deaths and disability cause great emotional and financial stress to the millions of families affected. Crashes are largely preventable. Each life saved and serious injury avoided reduces pain and suffering and achieves important economic savings.

In most OECD/ITF countries, fatalities decreased by around 50% over the period 1970-2005 but performance has not been evenly spread. The greatest regional reductions were in countries in Western Europe and the Asia-Pacific region (declines of 61% and 45%, respectively). In North America (United States and Canada), fatalities decreased by 20%, with reductions generally greater during the 1980's than in subsequent years. Central and Eastern European Countries (CEEC) and the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) achieved considerable annual reductions in the 1990's but since 2000 fatalities have stabilised in the CEEC and have increased in the CIS.





Considering individual countries, there has generally been a steady decline in fatalities per head of population since 1970 - with The Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland, Norway, the United Kingdom, Denmark and Japan reaching rates below 6.0 fatalities per 100 000 inhabitants by 2006. However, even

in countries with good performance, progress is not continuous and is marked with periods of stagnation and reversal, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Evolution in the number of fatalities between 1995 and 2007 1995 = index 100

Performance against current safety targets

The value of setting targets to improve road safety performance was acknowledged in the OECD's report *Safety on the Road: What's the Vision?* (OECD, 2002). Some subsequent research suggests that countries with quantitative targets perform better than countries without targets (Wong *et al* 2006). Targets that are based on a comprehensive road safety vision communicate the importance of road safety, motivate stakeholders to act and help hold managers of the road transport system accountable for achieving defined results. Targets indicate that the government is committed to reducing the road toll and is likely to support proposed policy and legislative changes and allocate sufficient resources to safety programmes. Target setting is recommended as useful for all countries attempting to reduce the road toll.

Targets can be set at a number of levels. At an international level, the European Council of Ministers of Transport (ECMT) set a common target for all member countries to reduce the number of fatalities by 50% between 2000 and 2012. Many countries have also set national targets to reduce fatalities and injuries, and some have set targets also for specific regions within the country.

Setting targets does not guarantee their achievement. Few of the OECD and ITF member countries will achieve the ECMT target of a 50% reduction in fatalities by 2012 without substantial additional effort in the remaining years. However, the fact that some countries are on track to meet the target demonstrates that targeted reductions in trauma can be achieved with adequate political will, institutional organisation and sufficient allocation of resources.

What can be done in the immediate term?

Road safety performance levels particularly, in countries with lower levels of road safety performance, can be improved in the short term by implementing a battery of proven measures. A survey

conducted for this report (OECD 2006-1) asked leading road safety practitioners to identify the main risks in their country. The key measures to address these risks were identified as follows.

- *Speed management*: enforcement of existing speed limits can provide immediate safety benefits, perhaps more quickly than any other single safety measure. Effective speed management also requires that speed limits are appropriate for the standard of the road, the roadside risks, road design, traffic volumes and mix and presence of vulnerable road users. Public support for reduced speed limits needs to be fostered, as there is generally little understanding that small decrements in speed produce substantial reductions in trauma. Other essential components of speed management are infrastructure improvement and the use of new technologies, such as intelligent speed adaptation, to modify behaviour.
- *Reduced drink-driving*: based on best practice experiences, highly visible enforcement using random breath testing is needed to enforce blood-alcohol limits that should not exceed 0.5g/l for the general population. Enforcement is most effective when backed by extensive publicity, with tough sanctions for repeat offenders. Alcohol interlocks fitted to all vehicles are a future option, subject to successfully increasing public acceptance.
- *Seatbelt use:* legislation with firm police enforcement backed by intensive mass-media programmes and penalties is the most effective strategy to improve seatbelt wearing. Technologies such as seatbelt reminder systems and seatbelt ignition interlocks could almost completely counter the non-wearing of seatbelts if introduced universally but would require community and vehicle industry acceptance.
- Safer roads and roadsides: at least for the short term, appropriate measures include targeted road improvements that identify and treat the highest crash locations with specific treatments such as audible edge-lining, shoulder sealing, clearing of roadside vegetation and the construction of passing lanes. For longer term, a systematic, proactive approach to road infrastructure design and renewal is needed.
- *Enhanced vehicle safety:* the safety of vehicles has increased significantly in recent years, due to technological development of passive (crash protection) and active (crash avoidance) systems. In particular, Electronic Stability Control systems represent a major recent advance in active safety, with collision avoidance and lane departure warning systems examples of other promising technologies.
- *Reduced young driver risk:* graduated licensing schemes in tandem with extended training during the learner period have been effective in reducing deaths among young drivers. Components of a graduated licensing can include night-driving and peer-passenger restrictions, graduated demerit points while on probation, zero blood-alcohol content tolerance and extended learning periods while under supervision to provide for driving in a variety of road and weather conditions.

These proven interventions will continue to be effective only if they are implemented with a sufficient level of intensity and are carefully matched to the individual circumstances of each country. Effective implementation also involves management processes that include analysing data to identify key problem areas, setting targets for achievement, choosing effective interventions, building community and political support, allocating sufficient resources and monitoring and evaluating performance.



Figure 3. Seatbelt wearing rates reported in a survey undertaken for this report 2002, 2003, 2004 or 2005 data

Source: Country Reports on Road Safety Performance, OECD/ITF 2007, www.internationaltransportforum.org/jtrc/safety/targets/Performance/TS3-summary.pdf.

Improving performance in the longer term

Some traditional safety measures are likely to show a diminishing rate of return in countries that have pursued them most effectively. For example, at seatbelt wearing rates of 97% (*e.g.* in France for front seats), it will clearly be difficult to move closer to 100% through more intensive application of traditional education and enforcement approaches. This is seen by many experts as an indication that a new approach to road safety is necessary.

Further advances will require in the first instance, an expanded understanding of possible achievements and the development of innovative strategies and associated targets. This report contends that further major road safety gains are possible in all countries regardless of their current performance levels, through:

- Improved data collection and analysis to support longer term targets and interventions.
- Setting robust interim targets, based on an agreed strategy.
- Ambitious long term vision, building on the agreed strategy with innovation.
- Adopting a Safe System approach.
- Improving key institutional management functions.
- Supporting research and development through knowledge transfer.
- Establishing adequate funding for effective safety programmes.
- Meeting management challenges, especially building political support.

These eight points are developed below.

Data collection and analysis

Comprehensive data collection and analysis are essential for designing effective safety strategies, for setting achievable targets, for developing and determining intervention priorities and for monitoring programme effectiveness. Good quality collision statistics are essential and need to be complemented with demographic data and traffic volume data by traffic mode to generate safety performance indicators. Performance indicators can also be used as intermediate targets (such as rates of seat belt and helmet use, speeding and red light running). Data on infrastructure factors (road length by crash risk, mean travel speed, etc.) is also important.

In-depth data analyses enable past safety achievements to be understood and also allow target reductions in fatalities and injuries to be estimated on the basis of measured and expected trends. It is critical that these estimates are not simple forward projections of past reduction rates but are based on a comprehensive understanding of all the underpinning trends likely to impact on system safety.

Reliability and quality of data is a key issue, when developing road safety interventions. Even in good practice countries, there is scope for further efforts to link police collision reports to hospital data records to improve data quality and consistency, especially regarding serious injury crashes. Data quality and effective analysis are fundamental to building risk awareness and intervention effectiveness.

Setting robust interim targets

A results focus is critical to an effective road safety programme. It requires setting targets and identifying the institutional means and interventions to achieve them. The targets relate to outputs (*e.g.* level of enforcement), intermediate outcomes (*e.g.* mean travel speeds, seatbelt wearing), final outcomes (*e.g.* number of fatalities and serious injuries) and social costs savings.

A relatively small number of countries now use empirically derived targets, based on quantitative modelling of intervention options. In this approach, targets are based on empirical evidence relating to the selected interventions' previous effectiveness combined with best estimates of future effectiveness, using a model linking inputs and outcomes.

This approach to setting targets is recommended. It bases targets on the achievements that can be expected from successful implementation of the interventions that make up the road safety strategy adopted. It promises immediate safety benefits through a known battery of interventions. This helps secure community support, and linking targets to an agreed strategy of interventions strengthens political support.

Ambitious long term vision

Countries with different levels of performance will have different ambitions in terms of road safety improvement. For some industrialised countries, a target fatality rate of 6 fatalities per 100 000 inhabitants will be seen as an ambitious target. Other countries have already reached this level and will aim at a higher level of ambition. Nil deaths and injuries represent the extreme level of ambition and is based on the belief that any level of serious trauma arising from the road transport system is unacceptable. This view is expressed most formally in the road safety policies of the Netherlands and Sweden known as *Sustainable Safety* and *Vision Zero* respectively, both of which are examples of a Safet System strategy. This approach is common in other transport systems and has determined safety programmes in aviation, rail and shipping for several decades.

This is an aspirational vision in that it may be impossible to specify all the interventions required to achieve this final goal. The means of achievement remain uncertain as practitioners are required to go beyond the limits of projected good practice. It therefore requires a strong commitment to innovation to reshape interventions to achieve the desired results, rather than only using current and projected performance expectations to determine them. This impetus for innovation challenges road safety professionals, stakeholders and government to develop the institutional capacity to achieve the desired results, to form new partnerships, and seek new effective approaches.

The long term vision of eliminating deaths and serious injuries needs to be complemented with robust interim targets, as described above, for specific planning terms up to a decade or so. This will help ensure the delivery of benefits over the shorter term, essential if the longer term vision is to remain credible.

Western Australia's proposed road safety strategy for 2008-2020, *Towards Zero: Getting There Together*, sets out such an approach as follows. "**Towards Zero** means that we do not accept that any human being should die or be seriously injured on our roads. Realistically we understand that it is not practical to achieve zero serious injuries on our roads by the year 2020, but we do not accept any death or serious injury as inevitable. This vision can be achieved if the community as a whole makes a fundamental change in the way it thinks about road safety and what it is prepared to accept. Our Target by 2020: 11 000 fewer people killed or seriously injured. If the **Towards Zero** Strategy is fully implemented we could see up to 11 000 fewer people killed or seriously injured on Western Australian roads between 2008 and 2020, a reduction of up to 40% on the average number of people killed and seriously injured each year between 2005 and 2007".The targeted reduction in deaths and injuries is derived from modelling the results to be expected from packages of specific interventions.

Aspirational targets for very large reductions in road trauma by specific dates have been adopted in many ITF member countries without links to specified interventions. This makes them very difficult to achieve. In the worst case, targets that fail to be achieved undermine the credibility of target setting and road safety programmes generally. Many of the countries that have adopted the ECMT target for 50% reduction in road deaths between 2000 and 2012 appear unlikely to meet it. Targets based on expected outcomes from specified interventions should therefore now be set, as a means to move systematically towards this level of ambition.

The only effective use of aspirational targets is in establishing a long term vision for achieving rates of deaths and serious injuries close to zero coupled to a twin track approach to make the vision operational: interim targets for quantified improvements over specific periods along the way, through interventions that are part of the road safety strategy; and research into more effective and new interventions to push the performance frontier.

Adopting a safe system approach

A Safe System approach is of the only way to achieve the vision of zero road fatalities and serious injuries and requires that the road system be designed to expect and accommodate human error. A Safe System approach has the following characteristics:

- It recognises that prevention efforts notwithstanding, road users will remain fallible and crashes will occur.
- It stresses that those involved in the design of the road transport system need to accept and share responsibility for the safety of the system, and those that use the system need to accept responsibility for complying with the rules and constraints of the system.
- It aligns safety management decisions with broader transport and planning decisions that meet wider economic, human and environmental goals.
- It shapes interventions to meet the long term goal, rather than relying on "traditional" interventions to set the limits of any long term targets.

The basic strategy of a Safe System approach is to ensure that in the event of a crash, the impact energies remain below the threshold likely to produce either death or serious injury. This threshold will vary from crash scenario to crash scenario, depending upon the level of protection offered to the road users involved. For example, the chances of survival for an unprotected pedestrian hit by a vehicle diminish rapidly at speeds greater than 30km/h, whereas for a properly restrained motor vehicle occupant the critical impact speed is 50km/h (for side impact crashes) and 70 km/h (for head-on crashes).





Source: Wramborg, P. (2005). A New Approach to a Safe and Sustainable Road Structure and Street Design for Urban Areas. Paper presented at Road Safety on Four Continents Conference, Warsaw Poland.

A Safe System approach is appropriate for countries at all levels of road safety performance, with specific interventions likely to differ from country to country. The elimination of all deaths and serious injuries represents a long term goal that can be combined with traditional interventions used in the interim to achieve immediate safety benefits. Figure 5 illustrates the association between long term Safe System outcomes and interim outcomes based on traditional interventions.

TOWARDS ZERO: AMBITIOUS ROAD SAFETY TARGETS AND THE SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH - ISBN 978-92-821-0195-7 © OECD/ITF, 2008



Figure 5. Interim and longer term performance through the adoption of a Safe System

Source: Eric Howard.

Improving key institutional management functions

Because road safety performance is determined by institutional capacity to implement efficient and effective interventions, targets will be most readily met if a robust management system can be established. This system should have a clear focus on producing agreed results. Results are dependent on interventions which are in turn dependent on institutional management functions (see figure 6). Much of the day to day discussion concerning road safety centres only on interventions. Addressing all parts of the management pyramid brings in such important and often neglected issues as institutional ownership and functional capacities for road safety policies, a safety performance framework for delivery of interventions and accountability for results.





Source: Land Transport Safety Authority (2000) and Bliss & Breen (2008).

TOWARDS ZERO: AMBITIOUS ROAD SAFETY TARGETS AND THE SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH - ISBN 978-92-821-0195-7 © OECD/ITF, 2008

The following seven institutional management functions are critical determinants of a country's capacity to achieve results:

- Results focus a strategic focus that links the delivery of interventions with subsequent intermediate and final outcomes. This requires government to designate a lead agency to work with other agencies to:
 - Develop management capacity to understand a country's road safety issues.
 - Provide a comprehensive strategy with intermediate and outcome targets.
 - Deliver interventions and target achievements.
 - Review performance.
- Coordination of the key agencies to develop and deliver road safety policy and strategy.
- Effective legislation to enable desired results to be delivered.
- Adequate funding and well targeted resource allocation for interventions and related institutional management functions.
- Promotion of road safety within government and the broader community.
- Robust and systematic monitoring and evaluation to measure progress.
- Proactive research and development and knowledge transfer programmes which actively influence improvement in interventions, institutional management functions and performance monitoring.

Above all, the commitment to a results focused approach to road safety management has a critical role in determining the achievement of a country's road safety ambition and related targets.

Supporting research and development through knowledge transfer

Research and knowledge transfer will play a pivotal role in the design and delivery of interventions aimed at achieving a *Safe System* approach and in attaining results that go well beyond what has been achieved so far. Our understanding of why and how crashes occur is based on very limited research. A more complete picture would provide the basis for more effective interventions. High-income countries will rely increasingly on innovation to work towards the ultimate goal of eliminating road deaths and serious injuries. Low and middle-income countries will benefit from these advances.

Knowledge transfer priorities are shaped both by the capacity of countries to implement safety innovations and the capacity of global and regional knowledge transfer processes. In the case of low and middle-income countries, safety management capacity weaknesses present a formidable barrier to progress and must be addressed directly as a strategic priority in knowledge transfer initiatives.

Knowledge transfer must be backed by sufficient targeted investment to overcome the barriers presented by capacity weaknesses at global, regional and national levels. Strong and sustained international cooperation will be required to mobilize knowledge transfer resources and support services commensurate with the sheer scale of the global road deaths and serious injuries.

Adequate funding for effective safety programmes

Road crash costs usually represent between 1% and 3% of a country's GDP (depending on whether a human capital or willingness to pay approach is used). While a survey conducted for this report shows that many countries are unable to estimate the annual costs of road trauma to government and injury insurers, the available evidence suggests that costs substantially outweigh the funds put into prevention programmes.

The adoption of a Safe System approach can produce important economic savings for society. To compete successfully for limited resources with other political and social programmes the road safety case needs to include sound economic arguments. This requires road safety managers to be skilled in assembling business cases for initiatives, including economic analysis. In particular, accurate estimates of crash costs are necessary to show the scale of the problem and to attract investment in road trauma prevention.

Components of an effective business case include:

- A solid evaluation framework to assess the economic and social scale of the current problem, to analyse injury causation data, to prioritise possible interventions (using cost benefit and cost effectiveness analyses) and to identify the socio-economic returns of expenditures on road safety.
- An allocation and implementation process that delivers resources to areas where the greatest benefits will be generated.
- Identification of any potential additional funding resources outside government, including encouragement for injury insurer investment in road trauma prevention.

Cost benefit analyses from various member countries show that carefully targeted road safety activity can be a viable investment opportunity, providing a competitive return for the insurance industry as well as government especially when the aggregate costs to the two sectors are considered and not solely the costs to government. Opportunities to attract funding by offering commercially acceptable rates of return for investors need to be vigorously pursued.

Meeting management challenges – building political support

While strong political support is critical for achieving ambitious targets, road safety may often be a hard sell to politicians. Many factors including the level of public interest and public pressure, the economic and political feasibility of solutions and the prospects of demonstrable success determine whether road safety will be treated as a government priority.

Road safety policy makers and advocates need to provide sound advice to government on policies while also accommodating the practical realities of political decision-making by:

- Empirically demonstrating the value of perhaps unpopular road safety policies, to enable politicians to stand firm in the face of opposition.
- Promoting policies that will show positive results within in a timeframe relevant to politicians.

- Displaying an appreciation of the practical realities of political decision-making, including the election cycle.
- Consistently providing competent, timely advice on a day to day basis.
- Carrying out effective policy advocacy at all levels of government.

Politicians need to be engaged in the process of developing the vision for road safety and the strategy for improving performance and not just the legislative process and approval of targets. Ownership of the vision and strategy is more likely to generate the funding and support for management capacity development and training required.

It is also useful to promote the synergies between road safety policies and other policy areas such as occupational health, consumer rights and environmental protection. For example, reductions in greenhouse gas emissions can be achieved through improved speed management to reduce crash risk.

Public opinion represents a key stimulus to political will for road safety. It will always be easier for a government to make road safety a priority if the public supports the effort. Activities such as publishing information on crash risks and measured safety performance may mobilise public as well as political support for road safety. Genuine consultation during strategy development should be integral elements of government road safety activity.

There is a strong and growing market for safety, evidenced by consumer vehicle purchase preferences in response to information programs such as NCAP, by safety programmes for child travel to and from schools and by the demand for the safer operation of public transport and freight activities on the road network. Support for this growing momentum is also evident in the private sector, where organisations such as Volvo, oil and mining companies and motoring associations are making strong statements about the future safety of their products and their operations.

TABLE OF CONTENTS OF THE FULL REPORT

FOI	REWO	RD	. 5
ABS	STRAC	CT	7
EXI	ECUTI	VE SUMMARY	13
INT	RODU	JCTION	29
1.	ROAI	D SAFETY TARGETS AND PERFORMANCE	35
	1.1. 1.2. 1.3. 1.4. <i>Refer</i>	Road safety trends in member countries Road safety targets in Member countries Level of ambition Conclusions	35 35 51 52 54
2.		A COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS – REQUIREMENTS	55
Ref	2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 2.5.	Understanding risks and performance – What data should be collected? The limitations of crash data analysis at aggregate level Analysing levels of crash risk across a road network Why data is important and how it can be improved Conclusion	55 56 63 64 67 69
3.	SOM	E KEY INTERVENTIONS FOR IMMEDIATE BENEFITS	71
Refe	3.1 3.2. 3.3. 3.4 3.5. 3.6. 3.7 3.8. 3.9. 3.10. 3.11. Cerence:	Key "building block" interventions Providing for safer speeds Reducing drink-driving Increasing use of safety belts Improving road infrastructure Promoting safer vehicles Graduated licensing for novice drivers Improving the safety of vulnerable road users Improving the medical management of people after crashes Some national evaluations of road safety interventions	71 73 77 79 83 85 86 86 86 87 89 91
4.	MAN	AGING ROAD SAFETY PROGRAMMES FOR RESULTS	95
Ref	4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 4.4.	What limits performance in achieving road safety targets? The road safety management system Universal application of the road safety management system Conclusions s	95 96 101 102 105

TOWARDS ZERO: AMBITIOUS ROAD SAFETY TARGETS AND THE SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH - ISBN 978-92-821-0195-7 © OECD/ITF, 2008

5.	THE SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH	107
	5.1. What is a Safe System approach?5.2. Changing the context for developing interventions5.3 Implementing a safe system approach	107 112 123
	5.4. Measuring and projecting performance improvement	127
	5.8. Conclusions	130
	References	133
6.	BUILDING THE ECONOMIC CASE FOR ROAD SAFETY INVESTMENT	135
	6.1. Introduction	135
	6.2. Evaluation	135
	6.3. Funding	145
	6.4 Resource allocation	151
	B afarancas	155 158
		130
7.	MANAGING EFFECTIVE STRATEGIES AND CREATING A SUPPORTIVE POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT	159
	7.1 Introduction	150
	7.1. Introduction	159
	7.3 Setting strategic goals and achieving strategic outcomes	163
	7.4. Co-ordination of road safety management	168
	7.5. Legislation	176
	7.6. Funding and resource allocation	177
	7.7. Promotion	178
	7.8. Research, monitoring and evaluation	179
	7.9. Implementation of Countermeasures	180
	7.10. Conclusions and recommendations	181
	References	183
8.	KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER	185
	8.1. A critical success factor	185
	8.2. Facing growing complexity	186
	8.3. Overcoming capacity weaknesses and scaling up investment	187
	8.4. International cooperation	188
	8.5. Conclusions	189
	References	190
CO	NCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	191
	Ambitious road safety targets are necessary to focus efforts to reduce road trauma	191
	A long term vision with a very high level of ambition transforms policy	192
	Look to strategies tried and tested elsewhere	193
	Comprehensive data analysis enables development of effective	
	road safety programmes	193
	Success requires a sound road safety management system	194
	Adopting a Safe System approach is essential for achieving ambitious targets	194
	Road safety investment opportunities	195
Achieving commitment at the highest levels of government		
	a Safa System approach	107
	а баге бубет арргоаст	17/

TOWARDS ZERO: AMBITIOUS ROAD SAFETY TARGETS AND THE SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH - ISBN 978-92-821-0195-7 © OECD/ITF, 2008

22 - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

ANNEX A. ROAD SAFETY TRENDS	199
A.1. BackgroundA.2. Changes in the numbers of road fatalities	199 199
A.3. Changes in road fatality rates	205
A.4. Changes in road injuries	207
A.5 Conclusions	208
References	208
ANNEX B. TRENDS IN DIFFERENT CRASH TYPES FOR CANADA,	• • • •
THE NETHERLANDS AND NEW ZEALAND	209
B.1. General description of the data analysis	209 209
B.2 The Netherlands	210
B.5. The recircitands $B A$ Canada	210
B.5 New Zealand	214
B.5. New Zealand	217
D.0. Discussion	224
	227
ANNEX C. STEPS TOWARDS IMPLEMENTING	
A SAFE SYSTEM APPROACH	225
ANNEX D. DRAFT WORLD BANK COUNTRY CAPACITY CHECKLISTS	229
APPENDIX. CONTRIBUTORS TO THE REPORT	237
Working Group members	237
Editorial Group	240
External review	241

CONTRIBUTORS TO THE REPORT

The report is the result of a three-year co-operative effort by an international group of safety experts representing 21 countries, as well as the World Bank, the World Health Organisation and the FIA Foundation. The Working Group was chaired by Mr Eric Howard and the work was co-ordinated by the Secretariat of the Joint Transport Research Centre. The report was drafted primarily by the ten members of the editing group listed separately below.

WORKING GROUP MEMBERS

Chair	Mr. Eric Howard (Australia)
Australia	Mr. Iain Cameron, Office of Road Safety, Western Australia
	Mr. Ian Johnston, MUARC, Monash University
	Mr. Jim Langford, MUARC, Monash University
Austria	Mr. Thomas Fessl, KfV
Belgium	Mr. Patric Derweduwen, Institut Belge pour la Sécurité Routière
Canada	Mr. Marc Gaudry, Université de Montréal
	Mr. Brian Jonah, Transport Canada
Czech Republic	Mr. Jaroslav Heinrich, CDV
Denmark	Mr. Hans Lund, Danish Road Directorate
Finland	Mr. Matti Roine, Ministry of Transport and Communications
France	Mr. Benoît Hiron, CERTU
	Mr. Laurent Ricci, DRAST
	Mr. Vincent Spenlehauer, INRETS
Germany	Mr. Rudolf Krupp, BASt
	Mr. Heiko Peters, BASt

Greece	Mr. George Kanellaidis, National Technical University of Athens
Hungary	Mr. Péter Hollo, KTI
Japan	Mr. Kunihiko Oka, National Institute for Land and Infrastructure Management
	Mr. Takanobu Moriuchi, Directorate General for Policies on Cohesive Society
The Netherlands	Mr. Rob Methorst, AVV
	Mr. Henk Stipdonk, SWOV
New Zealand	Mr. Martin Small, Ministry of Transport
Norway	Mr. Finn Harald Amundsen, Public Roads Administration
	Mr. Richard Muskaug, Public Roads Administration
Spain	Ms. Candelaria Mederos-Cruz, Dirección General de Tráfico
	Mr. Juan Carlos González Luque, Dirección General de Tráfico
Sweden	Mr. Matts-Ake Belin, Ministry of Industry, Employment and Communications
	Ms. Asa Forsman, VTI
	Mr. Hans-Eric Pettersson, VTI
	Mr. Björn Stafbom, Ministry of Industry, Employment and Communications
Switzerland	Mr. Rolland Allenbach, BfU
Ukraine	Mr. Volodymyr Ageyev, Ministry of Transport and Communications
	Mr. Anatoliy Redziuk, Ministry of Transport and Communications
	Mr. Anatoliy Stoliarov, Ministry of Transport and Communications
United Kingdom	Ms. Kate McMahon, Department for Transport
United States	Ms. Jane Dion, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
	Mr. Michael Halladay, Federal Highway Administration
	Ms. Rose McMurray, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration

Word Bank	Mr. Anthony Bliss
	Ms. Jeanne Breene
World Health Organisation	Ms. Margie Peden
	Ms. Francesca Racioppi
FIA Foundation	Ms. Rita Cuypers
	Mr. David Ward
JTRC Secretariat	Ms. Véronique Feypell-de La Beaumelle
	Mr. Stephen Perkins
	Mr. John White

EDITORIAL GROUP

The report was drafted primarily by members of the editing group:

Chair	Mr. Eric Howard
Australia	Mr. Iain Cameron, Office of Road Safety, Western Australia
	Mr. Jim Langford, Monash University, Victoria
	Mr. Martin Small, Department for Transport Energy and Infrastructure, South Australia
Canada	Mr. Brian Jonah, Transport Canada
The Netherlands	Mr. Henk Stipdonk, SWOV
United Kingdom	Ms. Kate McMahon, Department for Transport
United States	Ms. Rose McMurray, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration
World Bank	Mr. Anthony Bliss
	Ms. Jeanne Breen

EXTERNAL REVIEW

The following individual experts accepted a request from the Editorial Group to act as External Reviewers of the draft Final Report. The Group is grateful for the improvements that resulted.

Mr. Claes Tingvall

Swedish Road Administration

Mr. Fred Wegman

SWOV, The Netherlands Institute for Road Safety Research



International Transport Forum

www.internationaltransportforum.org